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2017  Operating and Financial Highlights  
 

 

 2017 2016 2015 

Total Revenue and Other Income ($‟000)              1,365 1,587 1,083 

Operating  (loss)/profit before tax ($‟000) (1,047) 244 28 

Net Cash flow ($‟000) 31 194 23 

Borrowings ($‟000) 28 77 307 

Total Shareholders‟ funds ($‟000) 1,614 2,660 2,416 

    

Earning per share (cents) (0.80) 0.19 0.02 
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Chairman’s Review  
 

It is an honour and a priviledge to present to you the Annual Report for the year ended 31 

December 2017.  

Total sales for the period were $1,220,431,  representing a decrease of 18% from $1,489,221 in 

the previous year.  The selfloading contractor who had been opearitng for many years in the 

quarry opted not to continue after July 2017 and thus significantly impacted sales in the second 

half of the year. The shortfall in sales however was partially offset by the increase in self-

production.   

 

Only 15% of total sales comes from the selfloading contractor.  23% of the total sales 

represented  block sales exported to China. 

 

Deteriorating market conditions and increased costs of production and our ongoing review of the 

sandstone business has resulted in a $739,572  impairment of our quarry and reserve asset at 31 

December 2017. 

 

The company elected not to renew Exploration Permit for Minerals EPM 11005 which expired 

in March 2017. On expiry of EPM 11005,  all exploration and evaluation assets associated with 

this EPM totalling $179,566 were fully written-off. 

  

The operating result  for the year ended 31 December 2017 was a net loss of $1,046,525.  

 

The group  will continue to strive for efficiencies in production processes and the realisation of 

larger orders from both the local and overseas markets. We anticipate sourcing a new self-

loading contractor in 2018. 

 

To my  fellow board members, dedicated employees, customers and shareholders, a big thank 

you for your continued support  to the company. Together, we will work to improve the 

performance of the group. 

Last but not least,  I wish to record my appreciation for the assistance rendered by the 

government agencies especially The Department of  Natural Resources, Mines and Energy and 

The Department of Environment and Science to ensure a safe and substainable operation during 

the year.    

 

Best Regards, 

 
Mr De Hui Liu  
Chairman 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd 

23 March 2018 

Brisbane, Australia 
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Quarry and Production  

 

 
           

The quality of sandstone at the Montgomery Quarry continues to provide the company with the 

ability to produce all types of products including the highest quality export grade sandstone 

blocks. The group continues to focus on driving productivity and performance improvement for 

a profitable result.   

 

The operation in Montgomery quarry  produced 1,000 tons of quality blocks and 2,000 tons of 

premium boulders in the year of review.  

  

The self-loading sub-contractor who had  been operating for  many years in the quarry opted not 

continue after July 2017, thisimpacted the production of random rocks and rubbles. The group is 

anticipating sourcing of  selfloding contractor  in 2018.    

 

The company‟s second Quarry, Zack Quarry, also in the Helidon region, is currently not utilised 

for production by  the company. 
 

 



 

 4   

Market and Business Outlook  
  

 

 
 

 

Overseas Market 

 
The company has been promoting and selling sandstone overseas, especially in China, since 

2000 and sandstone has become a well-accepted building material for architects, property 

developers and construction companies alike. Many high profile projects have now been 

completed in numerous cities showcasing Helidon sandstone, synonymous with the ASI 

Sandstone brand. The group‟s performance had been significntly affected by the slugish 

economy in China for many years  but  saw slight recovery in 2016.   We  believe that  a 

slight fall in export sales in  2017  was just the generic trend of business cycle and  anticipate 

continual recovery for future years.   The  company continues to support a well-trained sales 

team to maintain strong relationships with our existing and potential clients.   
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Your directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

1. DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the directors of the company in office during the financial year, and 

until the date of this report are as follows. Directors were in office for the entire year unless 

otherwise stated. 

Names and qualifications 

Mr De Hui Liu (Chairman) 

(Managing Director) 

Mr Liu is currently the Chairman and Managing Director of 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd. He has over 30 years experience in 

corporate management with particular strengths in investment, 

company restructuring, international trade and property 

development.  Mr Liu was appointed to the Board on 7 October 

1999. 

Other listed company directorships in the previous three years 

Nil 

Mr Zhen Lu Mr Lu has worked for many years in the building materials & 

construction industry in China.  He brings to the Board over 30 

years experience in civil engineering.  Mr Lu was appointed to the 

Board on 19 August 2002. 

Other listed company directorships in the previous three years 

Nil 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong 

(Company Secretary) 

Ms Kong holds a Master‟s Degree in Architecture Design and a 

Bachelor‟s Degree in Urban Planning.  She was appointed a 

director in June 2003, bringing to the Board over 20 years 

professional and business management experience.  Ms Kong was 

appointed Company Secretary in 8 July 2003. 

Other listed company directorships in the previous three years 

Nil 

Mr Shao Liu         

 

Mr Shao Liu has career experience in China and educational 

background in Australia, he is capable of establishing sustainable 

and profitable relationships with customers, suppliers and 

stakeholders across the world. He was appointed to the board on 18 

September 2013.  

Other listed company directorships in the previous three years 

Nil  

  

Interest in the shares of the company  

At the date of this report, the equity interests of directors (where that interest is held directly, 

indirectly or beneficially) are as follows: 

Director and their related entities 
 Balance 

1/1/17 

 Movement  Balance 

31/12/17 

Green Mountain Holdings Pty Ltd (i)  56,584,357  -  56,584,357 

Mr De Hui Liu & Mrs Peijuan Zhuang (ii)  16,418,057  -  16,418,057 

Mr De Hui Liu  4,180,000  -    4,180,000 

Mr Zhen Lu  -  -  - 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong  -  -  - 

Mr Shao Liu  -  -  - 
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(i) Mr Liu is the shareholder in Green Mountain Holdings, holding 76.3% interest in that 

company. 

Green Mountain Holdings is the Australian controlling company of ChongHerr 

Investments Limited. 

(ii) This interest is held via The Liu and Zhuang Family Trust, of which Mr Liu and the late 

Mrs Zhuang are trustees. 

 

2. (a)  CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and 

domiciled in Australia. ChongHerr Investments Ltd has prepared a consolidated financial 

report incorporating Australian Sandstones Industries Pty Ltd, which it controlled during 

the year. 

Corporate Governance 

The Corporate Governance Statement for ChongHerr Investments Ltd is available on the 

company‟s website, and accompanies this report. 

(b) PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities during the year of the consolidated entity were the quarrying of 

sandstone and the sale of sandstone blocks, primarily by export to overseas customers.  

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year. 

 

3. RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS  

The result after income tax of the consolidated entity for the year ended 31 December 

2017 was a loss of $1,046,525 (2016 profit: $244,412).  

 

The directors have not recommended the payment of any dividends for the year or since 

the year end. 

 

Sales, totalling $1,220,431 in the year,  are down 18% from the previous year, a 

combined result of decreases in both local and overseas sales.  

 

            No dividends are declared in both the current and the comparative period. 

 

4. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS   

SANDSTONE QUARRYING & PRODUCTION 

The  company has produced  about 1,000 tons of quality export blocks and 3,000 tons  

premium boulders sold to the local market.  

Other by products ranging from crushed rocks to lower graded boulders of varies sizes 

are supplied to domestic markets mainly for  landscaping and retaining wall building. 

 

  



ChongHerr Investments Ltd 

Directors’ Report 2017 
 

 

 7   

EXPORT OF SANDSTONE BLOCKS 

China, still remains as the focus of the company‟s sales opportunities.   

All the export sales during the year  were made to China, totalling $285,158, slipped  

15% from $337,066 in the previous period.  

The group is also exploring more sales opportunities in other overseas markets.  

 

QUARRY TENURE 

The company holds sandstone mining leases at Helidon, Queensland, an area famous for 

fresh water sandstone. The company also holds the ownership of the background tenures 

of the two quarries. Details of the quarrying interests are: 

Mining lease  Quarry Area (hectares) 

ML 50013  

(expires in 2032) 

Zacks 129 

ML 50016 

(expired in 2017, Application for 

renewal has been submitted) 

Montgomery 40 

ML 50213 

(expires in 2019) 

Montgomery 36 

Exploration permit EPM 11005 

(expires 11 March 2017)  

Montgomery and 

surrounding areas 

230 

Exploration permit EPM 18112 

(expires 18 February 2020)  

Montgomery and 

surrounding areas 

2,400 

 

The Directors are confident ML 50016 will be renewed. 

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND POSITION 

The audited financial statements of the consolidated entity accompany this directors‟ 

report. 

The financial statements show a loss for the year of $1,046,525 and total assets of 

$2,172,175. The result in the year decreased the consolidated entity‟s net assets to 

$1,613,659 from the previous year of $2,660,184.  

The operating loss is mainly attributed to the impairment of  quarry and reserves of 

$739,572 and the write off of capitalised exploration expenses of $179,566 coupled with 

a slight fall in sales. Deteriorating market conditions and increased costs of production 

and our ongoing review of the sandstone business resulted in a $739,572 impairment of 

the quarry and reserve asset for the period.  

 

Sales, totalling $1,220,431 in the year, a fall of  18% from the previous year. 23% of  

sales are export sales to China and the remaining 77%  represent sales to the local market 

The Group recorded a positive cash flow of $30,717 and hence strengthened the liquidity 

of the group.  The cash balance at the end of the year has increased to $70,569  from the 

the previous  year‟s balance of $39,942.  
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The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon: 

 the ability of the group to meet its forecast revenue figures;  

 the ability of the group to manage its creditors within available credit terms and 

working capital resources; 

 the ability of the group to realise its debtors; and 

 the renewal of Mining Lease 50016 by the Department of Natural Resources, 

Mines and Energy. 

The directors believe that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate as the 

directors will closely monitor the group‟s cash flow projections and working capital 

position and expect to meet the forecasted revenue and cash flow results. The directors 

believe that these measures are sufficient to continue to fund the Group‟s working capital 

requirements. The Directors are confident that this lease will be renewed. 

 

5. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than for the matters discussed in sections 3 and 4 above there were no significant 

changes in the state of affairs of the company or the consolidated entity in the year.  

 

6. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE  

No matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that 

significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results 

of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial periods.    

 

7. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS  

The directors are carefully monitoring ChongHerr‟s financial performance and position. 

In the coming year the company will maintain its focus on sales opportunities in China 

and South East Asia, and production/quarrying efficiencies.  Demand for sandstone is 

expected to remain strong, although current world economic conditions make forecasts 

very difficult. 

The company will also continue to conduct its business so that profitability can be 

enhanced and the balance sheet strengthened. Further information about likely 

developments in the operations of the group and the expected results of those operations 

in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the 

information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the group. 

 

8. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES  

The company‟s quarries are operated under environmental provisions contained in 

mining leases granted by the Queensland Government.  There have been no significant 

known breaches of these provisions. The company is required at the cessation of the 

mining leases to rehabilitate the sites back to a land form with vegetation similar to what 

was present prior to disturbance.  

9. REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the directors and key 

management personnel of ChongHerr Investments Ltd (the Company). 

Due to the size of the company and composition of the Board, Chongerr does not have a 
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remuneration committee.  The Board sets the remuneration of individual directors 

including the Managing Director. The Board recognises that it is not in conformity with 

ASX Best Practice Principles requiring that a separate sub-committee of the Board 

undertakes the responsibilities of remuneration. Given the size, history and activities of 

ChongHerr, the directors believe it is more efficient for the entire Board to deal with 

remuneration matters. 

Remuneration Policy   

ChongHerr utilises the following guidelines to encourage directors and key management 

personnel to pursue company objectives, and ensure their interests and those of the 

shareholders are closely aligned: 

 Remuneration packages should be set in the context of what is reasonable and fair 

taking into account the company‟s legal obligations, labour market conditions, the 

scale of the business and competitive forces, and employee performance; 

 In accordance with the company‟s Constitution, the amount of fees payable to 

directors is limited to that amount approved by shareholders (currently no set amount 

has been approved for directors‟ fees over and above their remuneration as 

executives); and 

 Any equity based remuneration requires shareholder approval. 

 

The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration on a 

periodic basis. In setting remuneration, directors and key management personnel are 

given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety of forms including 

cash and fringe benefits. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be 

optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group. The Group does not 

provide any equity based remuneration, nor does it presently specifically link director 

and key management personnel remuneration to company performance conditions, other 

than its overall financial position.   

No remuneration consultants were engaged during the year ended 31 December 2017. 

Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

Directors  

Mr De Hui Liu (Chairman, Managing Director) 

Mr Zhen Lu (Non-executive director) 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong (Non-executive director) 

Mr Shao Liu (Non-executive director) 

 

Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

Key management personnel are those directly accountable and responsible for the 

operational management and strategic direction of the Company and the Consolidated 

Entity. Apart from the directors identified above there are no other identified key 

management personnel. 
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Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel – audited 

 

Short term employee benefits 

Post 

Employ

ment  

Long-

term 

benefits Total 

 

Salary & 

Fees 

Cash 

Bonus 

Non-

Monetary 

benefits 

Superan- 

nuation 

Termin-

ation 

benefits 

Long 

service 

leave  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

31 December 2017        

Mr De Hui Liu  52,308 - - 4,732 - - 57,040 

Mr Zhen Lu  - - - - - - - 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong  - - - - - - - 

Mr Shao Liu - - - - - - - 

Total  52,308 - - 4,732 - - 57,040 

        

31 December 2016        

Mr De Hui Liu  54,452 - - 4,787 - - 59,239 

Mr Zhen Lu  - - - - - - - 

Ms Xiaoqing Kong Sophia  - - - - - - - 

Mr Shao Liu - - - - - - - 

Total  54,452 - - 4,787 - - 59,239 

No share based payments have been paid or accrued for any director or key management 

personnel in the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil). For the year ended 31 

December 2017 (2016: nil) no remuneration was performance based and no 

remuneration consisted of options. 

Employment Contracts 

The employment agreement in place for Mr De Hui Liu provides for remuneration to be 

set annually in accordance with company policy, has no fixed term and can be 

terminated by either party with 4 weeks‟ notice (except in the case of serious misconduct 

where the company can terminate without notice).   

No other director or KMP are employed under a contract. 

 

Loan to and from Key Management Personnel 

 

At 31 December 2017 the loan due to Mr De Hui Liu was $6,262 (2016:$ 1,159). Other 

key management personnel did not have loan to or from the company.  
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Discussion of the Relationship between the Remuneration Policy and the 

Consolidated Entity's Performance 

As set out in the remuneration policy, the company sets director and key management 

personnel remuneration based on various factors, including financial performance of the 

Group. The table below sets out recent history of financial performance and 

remuneration. 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Sales Revenue 1,740,933 729,140 1,038,984 1,489,221 1,220,431 

Net result (511,684) (1,919,301) 27,707 244,412 (1,046,525) 

Share Price at 

year end 

 

0.011 

 

0.011 

 

0.006 

 

0.009 

 

0.007 

Dividends - - - - - 

Total KMP 

Renumneration 

57,203 41,155 46,499 59,239 57,040 

Shares issued on exercise of compensation options 

No shares were issued on the exercise of compensation options in the 2016 or 2017 

financial years.  There are currently no outstanding compensation options on issue. 

Ordinary shares held in ChongHerr Investments Ltd 

 

Balance 

01-Jan-17 Movement 

Balance 

31-Dec-17 

Directors    

    

Green Mountain Holdings Pty Ltd (i) 56,584,357 - 56,584,357 

Mr De Hui Liu & Mrs Peijuan Zhuang (ii) 16,418,057 - 16,418,057 

Mr De Hui Liu                                            4,180,000 - 4,180,000 

Mr Zhen Lu - - - 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong - - - 

Mr Shao Liu - - - 

    

Total 77,182,414 - 77,182,414 

 

 

End of Remuneration Report – Audited 
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10. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

During the year, one directors‟ meetings were held.  The number of meetings at which 

directors were in attendance is as follows: 

 

Directors’ Meetings 

 No. of Meetings 

held while in office Meetings attended 

   

Mr De Hui Liu 2 2 

Mr. Zhen Lu 2 2 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong 2 2 

Mr Shao Liu 2 2 

          

 Directors meet regularly on an informal basis throughout the year. 

 

11. SHARE OPTIONS 

There are no options outstanding at the date of this report. 

 

12. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR 

No indemnities have been given, or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of 

the financial year for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the 

consolidated entity. 

 

13. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY  

No person has applied for leave of the Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the 

company or intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the 

purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those 

proceedings. 

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

14. NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The auditors did not provide any non-audit services to the consolidated entity during the 

year. 

As the auditor, Nexia Brisbane Audit Pty Ltd, did not provide any non-audit services 

during the year, the directors are satisfied that there was no compromise of the auditor‟s 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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15. AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

The lead auditor‟s independence declaration is set out on the page following this 

directors‟ report and forms part of the directors‟ report for the year ended 31 December 

2017. 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

 
 

Mr De Hui Liu  

Managing Director 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd 

23 March 2018 

Brisbane, Australia 

 



o Nexia
Australia

Auditor's Independence Declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2OOl

To the Board of Directors of ChongHerr Investments Ltd

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial statements of ChongHerr Investments Ltd for the year

ended 31 December 2017,I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no

contraventions of:

(a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001in relation to the audit;
and

(b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of ChongHerr Investments Ltd and the entities it controlled during the
period.

i\* 6u,, ba^g 4t A'l Pg uurcJ

Nexia Brisbane Audit Pty Ltd

-\r*l< ,^)
n-Maree Robeftson

Date: 23 March 2018

Nexia Brisbane Audit Pty Ltd
Registered Audit Company 299289
Level 28, L0 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
GPO Box 11,B9
Brisbane QLD 4001
p +617 32292472
f +677 3229 3277
e email(Onexiabrisbane.corn.au
w nexia.com.au

Liability lirnited by a schcme approved under Professioral Stnnd.rrds Le.tisiatios.

NexiaBrisbarreAuditPtyLtd{ABNd9 1i5261 72?}isanindependent'irmof ClrafieredAccountdnts. ltisafJrliated
lvith. but independent from Nexta Australia Pty Ltd, which is a member ol Nexin lnternationsl, a worldwide network of
independentaccorntinq,indconsultingiirrls. NeiiherNexialnternaliondinorl.JexiaAust.nliaPtyLtcl,deliverservlccs
in its own nanre or otheru/ise. Nexia lnte.nalional Lirnited 38C tlre nrember llrms ofthe Nexia lnterndtional network
iinciuding ihose menrbers which trade Lrnder a nane which inchdes NEXIA) are not lart oi a woridlvide partnership.

The tradernarks NEXIA INTERNATIONAL, ilEXlA and the NFXIA logo are owneo by \exi.r lnte.national Limlted and used
under licence-
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 NOTES CONSOLIDATED 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

    

    

Revenue     

Sale of goods  1,220,431 1,489,221 

    

Cost of sales  (1,022,876) (895,034) 

Gross profit              197,555     594,187 

    

Other income 4 144,930 97,903 

Selling and distribution expenses  (217,989) (178,957) 

Corporate and administration expenses  (240,804) (232,563) 

Impairment of trade receivables  - (14,582) 

Impairment of quarry and reserve  (739,572) - 

Finance costs 4 (6,546) (19,915) 

Other expense  4 (184,099) (1,661) 

    

(Loss)/Profit before tax  

                                

(1,046,525)            244,412 

    

Income tax expense 5 - - 

    

 (Loss)/Profit after tax   (1,046,525) 244,412 

    

Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax  - - 

    

Total Comprehensive Income  (1,046,525) 244,412 

    

    

Earnings per share (cents per share) 6   

– basic earning per share  (0.80) 0.19 

    

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial statement. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

Issued 

Capital 

$ 

Accumulated 

Losses 

$ 

Total 

Equity 

$ 

 

At 1 January 2016 18,373,250   (15,957,478) 2,415,772 

Comprehensive income for the year:    

Profit  for the year - 244,412 244,412 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - 244,412 244,412 

 

At 31 December 2016                                    18,373,250 (15,713,066) 2,660,184 

Comprehensive income for the year:    

Loss for the year - (1,046,525) (1,046,525) 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (1,046,525) 1,613,659  

    

 

At 31 December 2017 18,373,250 (16,759,591) 1,613,659 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial statement.
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 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 NOTES CONSOLIDATED 

  

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 70,659 39,942 

Trade and other receivables 9 426,987 432,016 

Inventories 10 57,886 183,597 

Prepayments  35,921 22,112 

Total Current Assets  591,453 677,667 

    

Non-current Assets    

    

Other financial assets 11 74,907 74,011 

Property, plant and equipment 12 406,576 471,777 

Quarry and reserves 13 1,084,628 1,846,899 

Exploration & evaluation assets  14,611 193,994 

Total Non-current Assets  1,580,722 2,586,681 

TOTAL ASSETS  2,172,175 3,264,348 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 14 315,270 331,580 

Borrowings 15 28,238 48,793 

Provisions 16 54,951 38,998 

Total Current Liabilities  398,459       419,371 

    

Non-current Liabilities    

Borrowings 15 - 28,238 

Provisions 16 160,057    156,555 

Total Non-current Liabilities  160,057 184,793 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  558,516 604,164 

NET ASSETS  1,613,659 2,660,184 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 17 18,373,250 18,373,250 

Accumulated losses  (16,759,591)   (15,713,066) 

TOTAL EQUITY  1,613,659 2,660,184 

    

    
 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial statement. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 NOTES CONSOLIDATED 

  

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  1,334,487 1,461,660 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,341,469) (1,246,566) 

Finance costs   (6,544) (11,892) 

Interest received  896 966 

Receipts from workers compensation  4,995 33,246 

Receipts from fuel credit refund  88,224 51,703 

Net cash flows from operating activities 

 

8 80,589 289,117 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for exploration & evaluation assets  (183) (36,716) 

Payments for plant and equipment  (25,000) - 

Proceeds from sales of equipment  25,000 - 

Investments (used in )/ from other financial 

assets  (896) 18,054   

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1,079) (18,662) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Repayment of finance lease liabilities  (48,793) (76,242) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (48,793) (76,242) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  30,717 194,213 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 

period  39,942 (154,271) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

 

8 70,659 39,942 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial statement 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION  

The financial statements of ChongHerr Investments Ltd for the year ended 31 

December 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 

directors on 23 March 2018. The financial statements cover the consolidated entity of 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd and its controlled entities. 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and 

domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities 

Exchange. The address of the Group‟s registered office is Lot 50, Goldmine Road, 

Helidon 4344, Queensland. 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are the quarrying of 

sandstone and manufacture of sandstone products. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

a) Basis of Preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Chongherr 

Investments Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial 

statements.  

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Chongherr Investments Ltd group also 

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Historical cost convention  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 

basis and are presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Group‟s functional 

currency. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Going Concern  

The Group substained a net loss of $1,046,525 (2016:  profit of $244,412) for the 

year ended 31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017 the Group has net cash 

reserves of $70,659 (2016: $39,942), net current assets surplus of $192,994 (2016: 

$258,296) and net assets surplus of $1,613,659 (2016: $2,660,184). 

There are two major customers with a substantial portion of the debt past due at the 

end of the financial year. The directors believe the balance of the debts are 

recoverable and regular payments are being received. The directors carefully 

monitor ChongHerr‟s financial performance and position. 

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is principally dependent 

upon the following conditions:  

 the ability of the group to meet its forecast revenue figures; 

 the ability of the group to manage its creditors within available credit 

terms and working capital resources: 

 the ability of the group to realise its debtors; and 

 the renewal of Mining Lease 50016 by the Department of Natural 

Resources, Mines and Energy. 

The directors believe that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate due 

to the justification that  the directors closely monitor the Group‟s cash flow 

projections and working capital position and expect to meet the forecasted revenue 

and cash flow results. The directors believe that this is sufficient to continue to 

fund the Group‟s working capital requirements. The Directors are confident that 

this lease will be renewed. 

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to 

realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of 

business, and at amounts that differ from those stated in the financial statements. 

This financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability 

and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts or classification of 

liabilities and appropriate disclosures that may be necessary should the Group be 

unable to continue as a going concern. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

 

New and amended standards adopted by the group  

 

The Group has adopted all the new, revised or amended Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board („AASB‟) that 

are mandatory for the current reporting period. None of these new standards and 

amendments to standards affected any of the amounts recognised in the current 

period or any prior period and are not likely to affect future periods.  

 

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early 

adopted be adopted for application in future periods. 

 

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to 

the Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such 

pronouncements on the Group when adopted in future periods, are discussed below: 

 

(i) AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards  (applicable 

to  annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018) 

 

The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the provisions on hedge 

accounting outlined below) and includes revised requirements for the classification 

and measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition 

requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge 

accounting. 

 

The key changes that may affect the Group on initial application include upfront 

accounting for expected credit loss. 

 

The initial application of AASB 9 is expected to have the following impact on the 

financial statements: 

 

Further reduction in the carrying amount of trade receivables and investments in 

related parties as at 31 December 2017 due to additional loss allowances (measured 

as 12-month and life-time expected credit losses) provided for such instruments that 

are not yet past due and past due but not yet impaired. The assessment of financial 

impact on account of the above is still in progress. 
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

(ii) AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018) 

 

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements in 

AASB 118 and the related interpretations. The core principle of the Standard is that 

an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 

to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 

to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services. Revenue is recognised through a 

five-step process that notably involves identifying a contract with customer and the 

related performance obligations and recognising revenue (as a portion of transaction 

price allocated to such performance obligations) as and when the performance 

obligation is satisfied. 

 

The key areas of change that may impact the Group's financial statements have been 

identified below: 

 identification and categorisation of performance obligations on each contract, 

which would influence the timing of revenue recognition on each contract 

deliverable; 

 capitalisation of costs incurred in procuring a contract that is expensed under 

the existing accounting policies; 

 upfront estimation of credit risk applicable to each customer and factoring the 

same in the revenue recognition of each contract; 

 estimation of the variable consideration in the transaction price and including 

that portion in the revenue recognition on the contract for the current year; and 

 additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding contracts and the 

related amounts. 

The assessment of the financial impact on account of the above changes in 

accounting policies is still in progress and as such not known at this stage, however, 

the impact is not expected to be material. 

 

(iii) AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

1 July 2019) 

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements 

applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 

introduces a single lessee accounting model that eliminates the requirement for 

leases to be classified as operating or finance leases. 

 

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 will impact the 

Group's financial statements. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

b) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year ('the 

Group').  The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same 

reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising 

from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full.  

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 

Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 

out of the Group.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are 

exercisable are taken into account. 

Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial 

statements include the results for the part of the reporting period during which 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd has control.  

In the company‟s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at 

cost. 

c) Foreign currency translation 

Both the functional and presentation currency of ChongHerr Investments Ltd and 

its subsidiaries is Australian dollars (A$). 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency 

at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 

exchange ruling at the balance date. 

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial statements are taken to the 

profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial 

transaction. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

d) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any impairment in value.  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition of the asset. 

The costs of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 

economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost 

can be measured reliably.  The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant 

and equipment are recognised in profit and loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis over the estimated useful 

life of each asset. 

Major depreciation periods are 

- Plant & equipment  3-8 years 

- Leased Plant & equipment 3-8 years 

 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when 

no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the 

asset. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognizing of the asset (calculated as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is 

included in the profit or loss in the year the item is derecognised. 

e) Finance costs 

Finance costs are recognised as an expense when incurred and comprise interest 

expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and foreign 

currency losses.  All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in 

profit and loss using the effective interest method. 

f)  Quarry and reserves 

Quarry and reserves represents expenditure on the acquisition, evaluation and 

development of mining leases.  These costs are only carried forward to the extent 

that they are expected to be recouped through successful development. The cost of 

property, plant and equipment in relation to the quarry is recorded separately in 

the statement of financial position.   

The estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves are based upon 

interpretations of geological and geophysical models and surveys. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs are amortised over the life of  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable 

reserves. A regular review of recoverable amount is undertaken to determine the 

appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs. 

Costs of restoration are provided over the life of the quarry from when the 

obligation becomes probable (usually from when evaluation commences) and are 

charged against profit.  Restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of 

plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation in 

accordance with clauses of the mining permits.  Such costs have been determined 

using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on a 

discounted basis. Any changes in the estimates of the costs are accounted for on a 

prospective basis.  In determining the costs of restoration, there is uncertainty 

regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations 

and legislation. 

 

g) Exploration and evaluation assets 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each 

identifiable area of interest.  Such expenditures comprise net direct costs and an 

appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure but do not include overheads 

or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus with a area of interest.  

These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be 

recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the 

area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the 

existence of economically recoverable reserves and active or significant 

operations in relation to the area are continuing. 

Restoration costs that are expected to be incurred are provided for as part of the 

cost of the exploration, evaluation, development, construction and production 

phases that give rise to the need for restoration.  Accordingly, these costs are 

recognised gradually over the life of the facility as these phases occur.  The costs 

include obligations relating to reclamation, waste site closure, plant closure and  

 

Other costs associated with the restoration of the site.  In determining the 

restoration obligations, the entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in 

the relevant Federal and State legislation in relation to restoration of such mines in 

the future. 

 

Both for close down and restoration and for environmental clean-up costs, 

provision is made in the accounting period when the related disturbance occurs, 

based on the net present value of estimated future costs. 

 

 



CHONGHERR INVESTMENTS LTD – ANNUAL REPORT 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 26 

  

 

 

2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

For close down and restoration costs, which include the dismantling and 

demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of 

disturbed areas, movements in provision other than the amortisation of the 

discount, such as those resulting from changes in the cost estimates, lives of 

operations or discount rates, are capitalised into the carrying amount of 

development and amortised against future production.  

 

 

h) Impairment 

Impairment – Non-financial Assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an 

asset, other than inventories, may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment 

exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the 

carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered 

impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset's value in use cannot be 

estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, 

in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 

to which the asset belongs. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 

flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset.  All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  An 

impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 

i) Inventories  

Inventories, being finished goods and work-in-progress, are valued at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value. 

Costs incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition are 

accounted for as costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of 

manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding 

borrowing costs. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale. 
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

j) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at 

bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 

of cash and cash equivalents as defined above and bank overdraft. 

k) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 

is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or 

loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision 

due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Group‟s obligation for short-term employee benefits. 

Short-term employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that 

are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual 

reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including 

wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 

(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 

The Group‟s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries 

and sick leave are recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the 

statement of financial position. The Group‟s obligations for employees‟ annual 

leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions in the 

statement of financial position. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

Other long-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for employees‟ long service leave and annual leave entitlements 

not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual 

reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other long-

term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future 

payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate 

anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee 

departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at 

the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that 

approximate the terms of the obligations. Any re-measurements for changes in 

assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised 

in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur. 

The Group‟s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-

current provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the Group 

does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 

after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as 

current provisions. 

Retirement benefit obligations 

Contributions are made by the company to defined contribution employee 

superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when incurred. 

 

l) Leases 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the 

lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the 

lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 

of the liability. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful 

life of the asset or the lease term. 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 

ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments 

are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

m) Financial Instruments 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is 

equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the purchase or 

sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).  

 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, 

except where the instrument is classified „at fair value through profit or loss, in 

which case transaction costs are expensed to immediately.  

 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Finance instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the 

amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market 

are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are 

adopted. 

 

Amortised cost is calculated as:  

a) the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 

initial recognition;  

b) less principal repayments; 

c) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between 

the amount initially recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the 

effective interest method; and 

d) less any reduction for impairment. 

 

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest 

expense over the relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction 

costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this 

cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to 

the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to 

expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value 

with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss. 

The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint 

venture entities as being subject to the requirements of accounting standards 

specifically applicable to financial instruments. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

i. Loans and receivables.  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 

ii. Financial liabilities.  

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 

Impairment – Financial assets 

 

A financial asset (or a group of financial assets) is deemed to be impaired if, and 

only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 

(a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial asset(s). 

 

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: 

indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant 

financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a 

separate allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial 

assets impaired by credit losses. After having taken all possible measures of 

recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be recovered 

by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance 

account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly if 

no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance account. 

When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or 

impaired have been renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such 

financial assets by taking into account the original terms as if the terms have not 

been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred are duly considered. 

 

 

Derecognition  

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash 

flows expires or the asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no 

longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits 

associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 

obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the 

carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party  
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2.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets 

or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

The fair values of Group‟s financial assets and liabilities approximate their 

carrying value.  No financial assets or liabilities are readily traded on organised 

markets in standardised form. 

 

n) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 

to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 

and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 

criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

goods have passed to the buyer and can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards 

are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the 

customer. Any consideration deferred is treated as the provision of finance and is 

discounted at the rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for 

similar arrangements. The difference between the amount initially recognised and 

the amount ultimately received is interest revenue. 

Interest income 

Finance income includes interest income calculated on financial assets recognised 

at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. 

 

Fuel credit refund 

Fuel credit refund is recognised when the right to receive the refund was granted. 

 

o) Income tax  

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet 

date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 

financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and 

unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 

available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.  Deferred tax liabilities 

and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 

amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity 

is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 

probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance 

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 

utilised. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity. 

The Group has substantial carried forward tax losses.  The deferred tax benefit 

arising from these losses has not been brought to account as it is not yet probable 

that the Group will derive future assessable income of a nature and of an amount 

sufficient to enable the benefits from the deductions for the losses to be realised. 

p) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

 where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not 

recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised 

as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 

applicable; and 

 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 

included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST 

component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is 

recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating 

cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

q) Comparatives 

When required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative figures have 

been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current year. 

r) Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, ChongHerr Investments Ltd, 

disclosed in note 25 has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated 

financial statements, except as set out below: 

 (i) Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial 

statements of the parent entity. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

s) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

In applying the Group‟s accounting policies management continually evaluates 

judgments, estimates and assumptions based on experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that may have an impact on the Group.  

All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable 

based on the most current set of circumstances available to management.  Actual 

results may differ from the judgments, estimates and assumptions.  Significant 

judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management in the preparation 

of these financial statements are outlined below: 

Quarry and reserves 

The cost of quarry and reserves is carried forward on the statement of financial 

position to the extent that it is expected that it can be recouped through successful 

development of the economically recoverable reserves, or through sale of the 

quarry. 

Amortisation is based on the rate of depletion of reserves as compared to the 

estimate of the total economically recoverable reserves. 

The carrying value of quarry and reserves is assessed for recoverability by 

reference to value in use or by reference to fair value.  Cashflow forecasts to 

assess value in use apply estimates of sales volumes and prices, production costs 

including capital items, and a discount rate based on cost of funds and risk. 

The recoverable amount of quarry and reserves is determined based on value-in-

use calculations. value-in-use is calculated based on the present value of cash 

flow projections over a 5-year period with the period extending beyond five years 

extrapolated using an estimated growth rate. The cash flows are discounted using 

the below rates. 

 

The following assumptions were used in value-in-use calculations: 

  

Growth rate Pre-Tax Discount rate 

1.3% 13.52% 

    

Further analysis of key assumptions and the impact of possible changes to key 

assumptions is included in Note 13: Quarry and reserves. 
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Management has based the value-in-use calculations on budgets. These budgets 

apply a 1.3% groth rate to the historical three year average revenue. Costs are 

calculated taking into account historical gross margins as well as estimated 

weighted average inflation rates over the period.  

 

Discount rates are pre-tax and are adjusted to incorporate risks associated with a 

particular segment. 

 

The provision for restoration is based on estimates of future costs, and 

requirements as set out in the Group‟s mining leases. 

Income tax 

The Group has substantial carried forward losses which are applied as an offset to 

assessable income. This future income tax benefit will only be obtained if:  

 future assessable income is derived of a nature and an amount sufficient to 

enable the benefit to be realised; 

 the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be 

complied with; and 

 no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in 

realising the benefit. 

 

Receivables 

 As discussed in note 18, the Group's export sales are made on 90-day 

credit terms, albeit that payment history indicates that the collection period 

associated with export sales can extend over a longer term.   
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Determination and presentation of operating segments  

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that 

internally is provided to the Managing Director, who is the Group‟s chief operating 

decision maker.   

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities 

from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and 

expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group‟s other components.  All 

operating segments‟ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group‟s CEO to 

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 

performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a 

segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated 

items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company‟s headquarters), head 

office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire 

property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill. 

 

The ChongHerr Group operates solely within the sandstone quarrying industry in 

Queensland.  A significant amount of product is exported to south-east Asia. The 

Group manages its business on a geographical basis which reflects the strategic, 

financial and operational needs – South-east Asia and Australia reflect the two major 

markets for product, and Australia reflects the production and corporate activities, as 

well as some local product sales. The South-east Asia segment is closely integrated 

with the Australian segment, as it draws its product from Australia.  

 

Group performance is monitored through segment performance, as this is most 

relevant to the Group structure. The following table presents financial information 

regarding geographical segments: 

 

The total of non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets 

located in Australia is $1,505,815 (2016: $2,512,670) and the total of these non-

current assets located in other countries is nil (2016: nil).  Segment assets are 

allocated  to countries based on where the assets are located. 
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 

 

 South-east Asia 

$ 

Australia  

$ 

Total 

$ 

 

31 December 2017  

   

External revenue 285,158 935,273 1,220,431 

Other revenue - 144,030 144,030 

    

Interest income             - 900 900 

Interest expense - (6,546) (6,546) 

    

Depreciation and amortisation - (102,980)  (102,980) 

    

Reportable segment profit  before income 

tax 

59,021 (704,222) (645,201) 

Unallocated corporate expenses 

-Employee benefits 

-All other costs 

   

(295,219) 

(106,105) 

Consolidated loss before income tax   (1,046,525) 

 

 

 

   

31 December 2016    

External revenue 337,067 1,152,154 1,489,221 

Other revenue - 96,931 96,931 

    

Interest income          - 972 972 

Interest expense - (19,915) (19,915) 

    

Depreciation and amortisation -                                      (140,995) (140,995) 

    

Reportable segment  profit  before income 

tax 

131,510 

 

463,158 

 

594,668 

 

Unallocated corporate expenses 

-Employee benefits 

    -All other costs 

   

(232,563) 

(117,693) 

Consolidated profit before income tax   244,412 
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South-east Asia 

$ 

Australia  

$ 

Total 

$ 

31 December 2017    

Segment assets 317,293 1,854,882 2,172,175 

Unallocated assets   - 

Total assets   2,172,175 

    

Segment liabilities - 558,516 558,516 

Unallocated liabilities   - 

Total liabilities   558,516 

Other material non-cash items: 

 Impairment of quarry and reserve  - 739,572 739,572 

 Writing off capitalised exploration expense - 179,566 179,566 

 Writing off property, plant and equipment - 2,828 2,828 

    

Capital expenditure   - 25,183 25,183 

 

 

 

   

31 December 2016    

Segment assets 276,343 2,988,005 3,264,348 

Unallocated assets   - 

Total assets   3,264,348 

    

Segment liabilities   2,190 601,974 604,164 

Unallocated liabilities   - 

Total liabilities   604,164 

    

Other material non-cash items:    

   Impairment loss - 14,582 14,582 

    

Capital expenditure  - 36,716  36,716 

    

 

The revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers on 

the basis of geographical location of customer. There were no intersegment sales 

during the reporting periods. 

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of 

corporate/administration cost and finance costs. All assets and liabilities are allocated 

to operating segments on the basis of geographical location. 
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4.       REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

 
CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$   

(a) Other income     

Other interest income 900 972   

  Forfeiture of contractor‟s deposit held for rehabilitation 20,000 -   

  Freight Income 11,362 11,982   

       Gains from realisation of property, plant and equipment 17,910    

       Refund from  fuel tax credit 88,224 51,703   

Trade Discount Received 1,539 -   

       Workers‟ compensation received  4,995 33,246   

         144,930  97,903   

(b) Expenses  

Depreciation of plant and equipment 80,282 116,690   

Amortisation of quarry and resources 22,699 24,305   

Quarry restoration provision 3,502 2,805   

Impairment of receivables - 14,582   

Impairment of quarry and reserves  739,572 -   

Write-off property, plant and equipment  2,828 -   

Write-off capitalised exploration expenses  179,566 -   

            

(c) Finance costs     

Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost:                   

Other borrowings 2,119 10,574   

Finance charges payable under finance leases 4,427 9,341   

Total finance costs 6,546 19,915   

 

(d) Employee benefits expense   

Wages and salaries 496,322 423,986 

Workers' compensation costs  12,963 9,698 

Superannuation costs  46,905 40,156 

 474,965 473,840 

(e)   Significant Revenue & Expenses 

Impairment of Quarry & Reserves 

Deteriorating market conditions and increased costs of production and our 

ongoing review of the sandstone business resulted in a $739,572 (2016 $nil ) 

impairment of the quarry and reserve asset for the period.  

 

Impairment  of quarry and reserves    739,572           - 
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5.        INCOME TAX 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to accounting profit/(loss) 

before income tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at the 

Group‟s effective income tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 

2016 is as follows: 

    

Accounting (loss)/profit  before tax 

from continuing operations  (1,046,165) 244,412 

At the statutory income tax rate of 

27.5% (2016: 28.5%)  (287,794) 69,657 

Non-deductible expenses  209,624 7,701 

Net amount of temporary differences  1,915 5,719 

Deferred tax assets not recognised  - - 

Unrecognised tax losses of prior years 

utilised  76,255 (83,077) 

Income tax expense  - - 

 

     

Unrecognised temporary differences and tax losses  

      

Unused tax losses and temporary differences 

for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised 5,022,837 4,745,547 

      

Potential tax benefit @ 27.5% (2016:28.5%) 1,381,280 1,352,481 

 

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets have 

not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise these benefits. 
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6. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit/ (loss) for the 

year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated on the same basis as basic earnings per share 

as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the total basic and diluted 

earnings per share computations: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

   

Net (loss)/ profit attributable to equity holders from 

continuing operations (1,046,525) 244,412 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic 

earnings per share 130,207,396 130,207,396 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary 

shares since the reporting date and before the completion of these financial 

statements. 

 

7. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

   

Declared and paid during the year - - 

Proposed for approval at AGM  

(not recognised as a liability as at 31 December) 

 

- 

 

- 

   

Franking credit balance - - 
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$   

     

Cash at bank and in hand 70,659 39,942   

     

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

     

The Group‟s exposure to interest rate risk is disclosed in note 19. 

 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 

reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:  

Cash at bank and in hand 70,659 39,942   

Bank overdraft (note 15) -  -   

 70,659  39,942   

     

Reconciliation of the (loss)/profit after tax to the net 

cash flows from operating activities     

Net (loss)/profit after tax (1,046,525) 244,412   

Depreciation 80,282 116,690   

Amortisation 22,699 24,305   

Gains on realisation of property, plant and equipment  (17,910)    

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,829 -   

Writing off capitalised exploration expenses 179,566 -   

Impairment of quarry and reserves 739,572 -   

Impairment provision – trade and other receivables - 14,582   

     

Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

Decrease in inventories 125,711 71,918    

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 5,029 (233,926)   

Increase in prepayments and other assets (13,809) (2,304)    

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (16,310) 28,995   

Increase in provisions              19,455 24,445   

Net cash from operating activities 80,589 289,117   

 

Non-cash financing and investing activities 

During the year the Group acquired plant to the value of $25,000 (2016: $nil), of 

which $ nil (2016: $ nil) is by way of finance lease.  
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

10. INVENTORIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$   

Finished goods – at cost 57,886 160,146   

Stock – consumables and parts - 23,451   

 57,886 183,597   

 

11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT) 

Security deposits         74,907 74,011   

         74,907 74,011   

     

The Group‟s exposure to credit and interest rate risks is disclosed in note 19. 

 

Included in deposits is an amount of $44,793 (2016: $44,793) lodged as security for 

bank guarantees. 

 

 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

 2016 

$   

Current     

Trade receivables  541,582    546,611   

Less: Impairment provision (114,595) (114,595)   

 426,987 432,016   

     

Other receivables  - -   

 426,987 432,016   

  

The Group‟s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade 

receivables are disclosed in note 19.     

 

Included  in  current trade  receivables are two substantial trade receivables amounting to 

$75,245 and $236,713 arising from sales in current and previous year. Both trade debtors  are 

making regular payments to settle the balance. The debt relating to Shenzhen Helidon 

Sandstone Ltd, as reported in the prior years, has been fully settled in February 2018. The 

balance at 31 December 2017 was $4,094 (2016: $8,284). 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 

Quarry Land 

 

$ 

Owned Plant & 

Equipment 

$ 

Leased Plant & 

Equipment 

$ 

Total 

 

$ 

     

Year ended 31 December 2017    

At 1 January 2017, net of     

Accumulated depreciation 141,042 268,527 62,208 471,777 

Transfer - 7,202 (7,202) - 

Addition  25,000 - 25,000 

Disposal - (9,919) - (9,919) 

Depreciation charge for the 

year - (63,780) (16,502) (80,282)  

 

At 31 December 2017 141,042 227,030 38,504 406,576 

At 31 December 2017     

Cost  141,042   3,297,562 185,000 3,623,604 

Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment -    (3,070,532) (146,496) (3,217,028) 

Net carrying amount 141,042 227,030 38,504 406,576 

 

Year ended 31 December 2016    

At 1 January 2016, net of 

accumulated depreciation 141,042 223,266 224,159 588,467 

Transfer - 135,290 (135,209) - 
Disposals - - - - 

Depreciation charge for the  

year - (90,029) (26,661) (116,690) 

 

Net carrying amount 141,042 268,527 62,208 471,777 

At 31 December 2016     

Cost  141,042 3,562,203 221,818 3,925,063 
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment - (3,293,676) (159,610) (3,453,286) 

Net carrying amount 141,042 268,257 62,208 471,777 

The carrying value of plant and equipment held under finance leases at 31 December 

2017 is $38,504 (2016: $62,208).  Leased assets are pledged as security for the related 

finance lease liabilities. 
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 13. QUARRY AND RESERVES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 
   

Capitalised expenditure on acquisition, evaluation 

and development   

- at cost 4,836,999 4,836,999 

   

Accumulated amortisation (1,378,014) (1,355,315) 

Provision for impairment (2,374,357) (1,634,785) 

Total Helidon Quarry and Reserves (a) 1,084,628 1,846,899 
   

Net carrying amount at beginning of year 1,846,899 1,871,204 

Impairment  charge for the year (739,572) - 

Amortisation charge for the year (22,699) (24,305) 

 1,084,628 1,846,899 

 

(a) Helidon Quarry Reserves 

The company operates two quarries in the Helidon area of Queensland. Details of the 

mining leases are as follows: 

 Mining lease No. 50013 renewed in 2012 and due to expire 2032; 

 Mining lease No. 50016 expired on 31 July 2017; and 

 Mining lease No. 50213 due to expire 31 December 2019. 

 

The renewal application for Mining Lease No. 50016 had been submitted to 

Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy for processing. The Directors 

are confident that this lease will be renewed. 

 

Impairment of quarry and reserves 

 

The impairment charge of  $739,572 (2016: Nil) has been recognised in respect 

Quarry and reserves at 31 December 2017. This impairment arose due to deteriorating 

market conditions, the loss of a key self loading contractor in July 2017 and increased 

costs of production. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in Impairment of 

quarry and reserves. 
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13. QUARRY AND RESERVES (continued) 

With respect to cash flow projections for quarry and reserves, growth rates of 1.3% 

have been factored into the valuation model for the next five years on the basis of 

management‟s expectations regarding the forecast sales price of the Group‟s product. 

Cash flow growth rates of 1.3% subsequent to this period have been used reflecting a 

steady growth rate after the forecast period. Pre-tax discount rate of 13.52% has been 

used in the valuation model.  Quarry and reserves are considered to be sensitive to 

these assumptions and are carried in the statement of financial position at a written-

down value of $1,084,628.  

 

The following assumptions were used in value-in-use calculations: 

  

 2017 2016 

Growth Rate 1.3% 5% 

Pre-Tax Discount Rate 13.52% 13.8% 

    

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions 

 

A sales revenue growth rate of 0% throughout the forecast period (1.3% lower than 

managements estimates at 31 December 2017), would result in an additional 

impairment against the carrying amount of quarry and reserves of $65,216. 

 

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow forecast was 5% higher than 

management‟s estimates (18.52% instead of 13.52%), the impairment loss would 

increase by $348,284.  

 

If the group‟s actual cashflows are 5% less than forecast, the impairment loss would 

increase by $115,904.  

 

The company also holds the following Exploration Permit for Minerals (included in 

Exploration and evaluation assets): 

 EPM No. 11005 expired in March 2017 and its capitalised expenses were fully 

written off during the year; and 

 EPM No.18112 due to expire in February 2020 

 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT) 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$   
     

Trade payables and accruals (unsecured) 315,270 331,580   
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15. BORROWINGS 

 

 

 CONSOLIDATED  

  2017 2016   

   $ $   

Current 

Bank overdraft 

  

- -   

Lease liabilities (note 20)   28,238 48,793   

   28,238 48,793   

Non-current       

Lease liabilities (note 20)   - 28,238   

   - 28,238   

 

 

Financing facilities available 

At reporting date, the following financing facilities had been negotiated and were 

available: 

 

Total facilities:   

– bank overdraft 200,000 200,000 

– other loans, finance leases/HP 28,238 77,031 

 228,238 277,031 

Facilities used at reporting date   

– bank overdraft - - 

– other loans, finance leases/HP 28,238 77,031 

 28,238 77,031 

Facilities unused at reporting date   

– bank overdraft 200,000 200,000 

– other loans, finance leases/HP - - 

 200,000 200,000 

The bank overdraft facility was established in November 2006 and is on normal 

commercial terms and conditions.  The facility is secured by registered first mortgage 

over the Group‟s property and mining leases.  The carrying amount of the assets 

pledged as security is $1,824,200 (2016: $1,846,899).  

   

The lease liabilities are secured by charges over the assets subject to the liability. 
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16. PROVISIONS 

               CONSOLIDATED 

 

Quarry 

restoration 

$ 

Employee 

benefits 

$ 

Total 

$ 

At 1 January 2017 156,555 38,998 195,553 

Arising during the year 3,502 15,953 19,455 

At 31 December 2017 160,057 54,951 215,008 

    

Current 2017 - 54,951 54,951 

Non-current 2017 160,057 - 160,057 

 160,057 54,951 215,008 

    

Current 2016 - 38,998 38,998 

Non-current 2016 156,555 - 156,555 

 156,555 38,998 195,553 

Quarry restoration 

A provision is recognised for restoration and rehabilitation in accordance with the 

Group‟s mining permits (see Note 2 (f)). 
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17. ISSUED CAPITAL  

  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Ordinary shares    

Issued and fully paid 18,373,250 18,373,250 

 2017 

   

Movement in ordinary shares on issue                                                No.  $       

At 1 January 130,207,396 18,375,250 

Movement in the year   

-New issue - - 

-Cancelled - - 

At 31 December 130,207,396    18,375,250 

 2016 

   

Movement in ordinary shares on issue                                               No. $ 

At 1 January 130,207,396 18,375,250 

Movement in the year   

-New issue - - 

-Cancelled - -  

At 31 December 130,207,396 18,375,250 

Ordinary shareholders have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event 

of winding up the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus 

assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.  One 

ordinary share entitles the holder to one vote, either in proxy or person, at a meeting 

of the Company. The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in 

respect of its issued shares. 
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18.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 

The Group‟s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, 

receivables, trade payables, borrowings and finance leases.  

It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group‟s policy that no 

trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments 

– credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. This note presents information about the 

exposure to each of the above risks, and the management of capital. Further 

quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial 

statements. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 

of the Group‟s risk management framework. The Managing Director is responsible 

for developing and monitoring the risk management policies. The Managing Director 

reports to the Board. 

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, 

to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 

limits. These policies are established within a governance framework which 

recognizes the following specific circumstances of ChongHerr: 

 It is a relatively small Group; 

 The Managing Director has been a major shareholder of ChongHerr since 2000, 

and since that time has been active (through his role as Managing Director) in the 

company‟s strategic direction, overall performance and its operational 

management; and 

 The specialised nature of the industry and markets in which ChongHerr operates. 

 

The fair values of the Group‟s financial assets and liabilities approximate their 

carrying value.  No financial assets or liabilities are readily traded on organised 

markets in standardised form. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the 

Group‟s trade receivables from customers and other receivables. 

 

The Group trades mostly with strategically significant customers, who are subject to 

internal credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored 

on an ongoing basis, and where necessary action is taken in respect of past due 

amounts. 
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The Group‟s export products are sold on a Free On Board (“FOB”) basis with 90-day 

terms, and normally collateral is not required in respect of trade and other receivables.  

Where necessary the Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its 

estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. This allowance is 

raised for any specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. 

The Group‟s exposure to credit risk is influenced significantly by the characteristics of 

its customer base. The credit risk of the group is now concentrated on two large trade 

receivables, arising from the current and previous year export sales: $75,245 (2016: 

$134,897) and $236,712 (2016:$133,161) at the balance date. While the receivables are 

overdue, the directors consider the balance is fully recoverable as regular instalment 

payments has been received from the two debtors. These balance are past due but not 

impaired. 

The balance due from Shenzen Helidon Sandstone Ltd was $4,094 at 31 December  

2017 (2016: $8,284) but  fully settled in February 2018.  Other debtors that were past 

due and not impaired in 2017 stood at $6,766 (2016: Nil) at the balance date. The 

directors consider the balance is fully recoverable as regular instalment payments has 

been received. 

At the balance date, total receivables past due but not impaired is $323,539 

(2016:$306,730) 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations 

as they fall due. The approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that 

there will always be sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, under both normal 

and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 

Group‟s reputation. 

  

The Group‟s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 

flexibility through the use of cash and overdraft balances, loans and finance leases. The 

Group monitors cashflow from these sources, and the collection of trade receivables 

and payment of trade payables. 

As outlined above the Group has a significant receivable account, which has resulted in 

a low level of liquidity in the Group. The Directors are continually monitoring this 

situation and assessing options for increased funding of Group activities. 

 

 



CHONGHERR INVESTMENTS LTD – ANNUAL REPORT 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

18.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

(continued) 

 

 50 

  

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and 

interest rates will affect income or the value of holdings of financial instruments. The 

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 

within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

As a result of significant sales markets in China, the Group‟s financial performance can 

be affected significantly by movements in the exchange rates. The foreign currency 

exposure has been minimised by conducting all sales transactions and purchase 

transactions in Australian dollars. 

Risk remains however in that any movement in exchange rates may cause China based 

customers to re-assess their exposure to Australian dollars.  The Group believes China 

to be the main market for its products. The exposure to commodity price risk is 

minimal. 

The exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to borrowing 

obligations. The policy at present is to manage its interest cost using fixed and variable 

rate debt. 

At reporting date 5% (2016: 13%) of the Group‟s liabilities are interest bearing (all 

fixed rate) with $nil (2016: $28,238) due after 12 months – see notes 15 & 19 for 

further details. 

Capital management 

The Board‟s policy is to build and maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 

investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the 

business. The Board monitors the capital mix, share price, as well as the return on 

capital. 

In recent years the Board has sought to build the Group‟s total equity through profitable 

trading and retention of profits. Capital management has also seen the Group seek to 

utilise appropriate levels of debt and equity, for which it regularly assesses the 

availability and returns required on such capital sources. 

The parent entity does not have any share purchase or option arrangements, and 

encourages directors and employees to own shares in the company.  Policy is that 

directors and employees should only trade in the company‟s shares in circumstances 

where the market is fully informed.  

There were no changes to the approach to capital management during the year. Neither 

the parent entity nor its subsidiary is subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 



CHONGHERR INVESTMENTS LTD – ANNUAL REPORT 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 

 51 

  

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

Credit Risk  

 Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 

 
Consolidated carrying 

amount 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 70,659 39,942 

Trade and other receivables 426,987 432,016 

Other financial assets          74,907        74,011 

 572,553 545,969 

 

The Group‟s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the 

reporting date by geographic region was: 

 

  Carrying amount 

 

 2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Australia           109,694 155,673 

South-east Asia  317,293 276,343 

  426,987 432,016 

 

Comments on the exposure to credit risk for receivables at the reporting date, 

including the major customer, are detailed in Notes 9 and 18. 

 

Impairment losses 

 

The ageing of the Group‟s trade receivables at the reporting date was: 

   Carrying amount 2017 Carrying amount 2016 

 Gross $ Impairment $ Gross $ Impairment $ 

Not past due 0-60 days        103,448  125,286 - 

Not past due 60-90 days               65 - 9,151 - 

Past due 90-120 days  550 - 11,651 - 

Past due 121 days        437,519 (114,595) 400,523 (114,595) 

 541,582 (114,595) 546,611 (114,595) 

 

Comments on the Group‟s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables past due at the 

reporting date are detailed in Note 18. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

The movement in the provision for impairment losses on receivables is: 

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

At 1 January 114,595 100,013 

Impairment loss recognised  - 14,582 

Balance at 31 December  114,595 114,595 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including    

estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements: 

 

Consolidated  31 December 2017 

         

Carrying 

amount  

$ 

Contract-

ual cash 

flows  

$ 

6 months 

or less  

$ 

6-12 

months  

$ 

1-2 years  

$ 

2-5 years  

$ 

More than 

5 years  

$ 

Lease liabilities  28,238 29,015    29,015      -     -   - - 

Trade payables 315,270 315,270 315,270 - - - - 

Bank overdraft - -   -  - - - - 

 343,508 344,285 344,285 - - - - 

 

Consolidated 31 December 2016 

         

Carrying 

amount  

$ 

Contract-

ual cash 

flows 

 $ 

6 months 

or less  

$ 

6-12 

months  

$ 

1-2 years  

$ 

2-5 years  

$ 

More than 

5 years 

 $ 

Lease liabilities 77,031 82,234 28,350 24,869 29,015 - - 

Trade payables 331,580 331,580 328,494 3,086 - - - 

Bank overdraft  - - - - - - - 

 408,611 413,814 356,844 27,955 29,015 - - 

        

 

Currency risk 

 

The Group has no exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date.  
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

 

Profile 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group‟s interest-bearing financial 

instruments was: 

 

Consolidated 

Carrying amount 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$  

Fixed rate instruments    

Financial liabilities  (28,238) (77,031)  

 (28,238) (77,031)  

Variable rate instruments    

Financial assets  - -  

Financial liabilities  - -  

 - -  

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

 

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss at 31 December 2017. Therefore a change in interest rates 

at the reporting date would not affect profit and loss.  

 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments  

 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rate at the reporting date would have 

increased (decreased) equity and profit and loss by $nil (2016:nil). This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remain constant.  

 

Fair values 

 

The fair values of Group‟s financial instruments approximate their carrying value. 
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20.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Operating lease commitments  

The Group has no operating lease commitment at 31 December 2017.  

Finance lease commitments 

The Group has finance leases for various items of plant and machinery, with standard 

commercial terms and conditions. 

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value 

of the net minimum lease payments are as follows: 

 2017 2016 

 

Minimum 

payments 

$ 

Minimum 

Payments 

$ 

CONSOLIDATED   

Within one year 29,015 53,219 

After one year but not more than five years - 29,015 

Total minimum lease payments 29,015 82,234 

Less amounts representing finance charges (777) (5,203) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 28,238 77,031 

Contingencies 

There are no material contingent assets or liabilities as at balance date.  
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21.        SUBSIDIARIES  

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of ChongHerr 

Investments Ltd and the subsidiaries listed in the following table. 

  % Equity interest 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 2017 2016 
 

Australian Sandstone Industries Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 

22. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that 

significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the 

results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial 

periods. 

 

23. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION  

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$   

     

Amounts received or due and receivable by Nexia Brisbane for:     

Audit or review of the financial reports of the entity 30,500 30,000   

Other non-audit services in relation to the entity - -   

     

 30,500 30,000   
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24. DIRECTOR AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL         

            DISCLOSURES 

 

a) Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

 

Mr De Hui Liu Chairman and Managing Director 

Mr Zhen Lu Director (non-executive) 

Ms Sophia Xiaoqing Kong Director (non-executive) 

Mr Shao Liu Director (non-executive) 

  

b) Remuneration 

 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Short term employee benefits 52,308 54,452 

Share based payments - - 

Post employment benefits 4,732 4,787 

   57,040 59,239 

 

c) Loan to and from Directors 

 

At 31 December 2017 the loan due to Mr De Hui Liu was $6,262 (2016: $ 1,159). 

Other directors did not have any loan due to or from the company for both current 

and comparative period. 

 

 

d) Option holdings of directors and key management personnel 

 

No options were held at 31 December 2017 or 31 December 2016. 
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25. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  

      

As at and throughout the financial year ending 31 December 2017 the parent company 

of the Group was ChongHerr Investments Ltd.  

 

 

 

 

Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees of the Parent Entity 

 

The minimum committed expenditure for future periods of the Parent Entity is the 

same as those for the Consolidated Entity.  Refer to Note 20 for details. 

 

As at 31 December 2017 the parent entity had security deposit guarantees of $74,907 

(2016: $74,011) with various entities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 COMPANY 

Result of the parent entity   

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

   

(Loss)/Profit for the period (306,953) 244,412 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period (306,953)  244,412 

   

Financial position of parent entity at year end    

   

Current assets 591,454 677,677 

Total assets   2,911,747 3,264,348 

   

Current liabilities 398,459 419,371 

Total liabilities  558,516 604,164 

   

Total equity of the parent entity    

   

Share capital  18,373,250 18,373,250 

Accumulated loss (16,020,019) (15,713,066) 

Total equity      2,353,231  2,660,184 
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Directors' Declaration 

 

The directors of the company declare that: 

1. The financial statements, comprising the statement of profit or loss and 

comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of cash flows, 

statement of changes in equity, accompanying notes, are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and:  

a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

and 

b) give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity‟s financial position as at 31 

December 2017 and of its performance for the year ended on that date. 

2. The company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and 

unreserved statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

3. In the directors‟ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company 

will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.  

4. The remuneration disclosures included in pages 8 to 11 of the directors‟ report (as 

part of audited Remuneration Report), for the year ended 31 December 2017, 

comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

5. The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and 

chief financial officer required by section 295A.  

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and 

is signed for and on behalf of the directors by: 

 

 

Mr De Hui Liu  

Managing Director 

ChongHerr Investments Ltd 

23 March 2018 



Nexia
Australia

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of ChongHerr Investments Ltd

Repoft on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of ChongHerr Investments Ltd (the Company and its subsidiaries (the
Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors'declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of its
performance for the year then ended; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this
auditor's report,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going aoncern

We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial report, which indicates that the ability of the consolidated entity
to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the ability of the consolidated entity to meet its forecast
revenue and manage its working capital. These conditions, along with other matters as set out in Note 2,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity's
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

Nexia Brisbane Audit Pty Ltd
Registered Audit Company 299289
Level 28, 10 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
GPO Box 1 189
Brisbane Q[-D 4001
p +61 7 3229 2A22
f +61 7 3229 3277
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w nexia.com.au
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Key audit matterc

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

audit matter How our audit addressed the audit matter
Impairment assessment of Quany and
Reselves

Refer to Critical accounting estimates and
judgements in note 2(s) and note 13 to the
financial report.

As disclosed the Group had capitalised Quarry
and Reserue assets of $1,084,628 as at 31
December 20L7. As at 31 December 2017 the
Group recorded an impairment loss of
$739,572 in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Under Australian Accounting Standards, an
entity shall assess at each reporting period
whether there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists,
the entity shall estimate the recoverable
amount of the asset. The Group's assessment
identified impairment indicators and an
impairment loss was recognised.

This was a key audit matter because the
impairment testing process is complex and
highly judgemental and is based on
assumptions and estimates that are affected by
expected future performance and market
conditions.

We performed the following procedures, amongst
others:

. We evaluated the Group's assessment of the indicators
of impairment at 31 December 20L7. The Group
identified that impairment indicators were evident for
Quarry and Reserves.

. We considered whether the discounted cash flow
model used to estimate value in use (the impairment
model) was consistent with the basis required by
Australian Accounting Standards

. We tested whether the forecast cash flows used in the
impairment model were consistent with management's
most recent forecasts.

. We considered whether management's key
assumptions and estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of its assets, including those
related to forecast revenue, costs, discount rates and
residual values, were reasonable and based on
supportable assumptions by:

- comparing the forecasted cash flows to actual
cash flows for previous years to assess the
accuracy of the Group's forecasting;

- comparing inflation rate assumptions in the
impairment model to current economic forecasts;
and

- assessing the Group's discount rate calculations,
including having regard to the inputs utilised in the
Group's weighted average cost of capital.

o We tested the internal mathematical accuracy of the
impairment model's calculations.

o We pedormed sensitivity analysis in relation to the
key inputs to management's impairment model.

. We assessed the adequacy of impairment related
disclosures in the financial statements, including the
key assumptions used and the sensitivity of the
financial statements to these assumptions, in light of
the requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in
the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2077 , but does not include the financial report and
the auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Dircdorc' responsibility for the financial repoft
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibility for the audit of the financial repoft
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this
financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion, Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Group financial report. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit, We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Repoft on the Remuneration Repoft

Opinion on the Remuneration Repoft

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages B to 11 of the Directors' Report for the year
ended 31 December2017.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of ChongHerr Investments Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2OI7
complies with section 3004 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

{[n,l $n,,b*, Aua,;+ t\,\P5
Nexia Brisbane Audit PW Ltd

fu"
aree Robertson

Level 28, 10 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD, 4000

Date: 23 March 2018
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CHONGHERR INVESTMENTS LTD 

AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere is as 

follows: 

The information was applicable as at 12 February 2018. 

(a) Twenty largest shareholders 

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:  

Name of shareholder No of Shares Held % of Total 

Green Mountain Holdings Pty Ltd 56,584,357 43.46% 

Mr Jingchun Liu 17,000,000 13.06% 

Mr De Hui Liu (Liu & Zhuang Family Trust) 16,418,057 12.61% 

Mr Jianming Xiong  12,960,000 9.95% 

Mr Dehui Liu 4,180,000 3.21% 

Min Shi 2,997,635 2.30% 

Mr Bin Zhuo 2,450,000 1.88% 

Mr Wing Fung Chung 2,040,000 1.57% 

Desibi Pty Ltd 1,770,000 1.36% 

Mr Liu Dejun 1,650,000 1.27% 

Mr Trevor Neil Hay 1,389,434 1.07% 

Mr Zao Fa Wu 1,360,000 1.04% 

GA & AM Leaver Investments Pty Ltd  (GA & AM Leaver   

S/Fund A/C) 981,157 0.75% 

Mr Gordon  BradleyElkington 904,500 0.69% 

Mr Qingquan Liu 822,572 0.63% 

Mr Timothy Frederick Berlet   600,000 0.46% 

Ms Kie Huong Ting 500,000 0.38% 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 450,000 0.35% 

Desibi Pty Ltd 375,000 0.29% 

Carojon Pty Ltd 359,640 0.28% 

   

Portion held by 20 Largest Holders 125,792,352 96.61% 

 

(b) Distribution of equity securities 

The number of shareholders by size of holding, in each class of share are: 

 Range No. of Holders % Quantity % 

     

1-1000  27  22.50          16,342   0.01 

1001 – 5,000  23  19.17           39,900   0.03 

5,001 – 10,000  4    3.33          30,500   0.02 

10,001 –100,000   32  26.67      1,827,835  1.40 

100,001and Over   34  28.33  128,292,819 98.53 

Total    120 100.00  130,207,396 100.00 

 

Marketable Parcel  

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of 100,000 securities is 82 

and they hold 1,514,577 securities. 

Substantial Shareholders  

There are four substantial shareholders: Green Mountain Holdings Pty Ltd,  Mr Jingchun Liu, 

The Liu and Zhuang Family Trust, and Mr Jianming Xiong  as disclosed above.  

(c) Voting Rights 

- On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote. 

- Upon a poll, each fully paid share shall have one vote.  
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CHONGHERR INVESTMENTS LTD 
ABN 52 054 161 821  

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 

The Board of directors of ChongHerr Investments Ltd (“ChongHerr”) is responsible for 

the corporate governance of the company and its subsidiary. The Board guides and 

monitors the business and affairs of ChongHerr on behalf of the shareholders, by whom 

they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

 

The Board has established a governance framework for the conduct of the affairs of 

ChongHerr.  This framework is based on the requirements of the company and the 

Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) (“Principles”) 

published by the Corporate Governance Council formed by the Australian Securities 

Exchange (“ASX”). The ChongHerr governance framework also recognizes the 

following specific circumstances of ChongHerr: 

 It is a relatively small size company, 

 Mr De Hui Liu has been a major shareholder of ChongHerr since 2000, and since that 

time has been active (through his role as Managing Director) in the company‟s 

strategic direction, overall performance and its operational management, 

 The specialised nature of the industry & markets in which ChongHerr operates. 

 

Due to the circumstances of ChongHerr‟s size and scope of operations the corporate 

governance framework varies, in some instances, from the Principles.   However the 

Board believes that ChongHerr operates at an acceptable level of corporate governance. 

The ASX recognises that such variations may occur as the Corporate Governance 

Principles and Recommendations are not a “one size fits all” solution. 

 

Set out below is the company‟s corporate governance statement. It is current as at 23rd 

March 2018  and had been approved by the  Board 

 

 

(Principle 1 – Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight) 

 

Recommendation 1.1 

Companises should disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of its Bord and 

Managemnt and those matters expressly reserved to the Board and those delegate to the 

Management and disclose those fnctions. 

 

The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the ChongHerr. The Charter of 

the Board is as follows: 

 Setting corporate mission, strategic direction and objectives, 

 Input into and ratifying any significant business transactions and/or changes to 

the company, 
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 Adopting an annual business plan/budget, setting performance targets, and 

monitoring performance against the plan and targets, 

 Monitoring significant business risks and ensuring they are appropriately 

managed, 

 Ensuring adequate internal controls exist and are appropriately monitored for 

compliance, 

 Assessing company performance, Board structure and performance, and director 

(including the Managing Director) performance, 

 Setting the business standards and ethical conduct of the company, 

 Share capital management, 

 Reporting to shareholders. 

 

The conduct of the company‟s operational activities and its day-to-day business affairs 

are the responsibility of the Management.  The Board has a planned meeting process to 

undertake its responsibilities and to receive reports from the Management on the conduct 

of business.  The Board is also able to meet on an unplanned basis where necessary.   

 

 

Recommendation 1.2 

Companies should make appropriate checks before appointing a person, putting forward 

to security holders a candidate for election as a director and provide security holders 

with all material information in its possession relevant to a decision on whether or not to 

elect or re-elect a director. 

 

The Company undertakes checks on any person who is being considered as a directors. 

These checks may include charactter, experience, education and financial background.  

 

All material information about each candidate to  a decision whether o not to elect or re-

elect a director will be contained in the Explanatory Memprandum to the Notice of 

Annual General Meeting. 

 

Recommendation 1.3 

Companies should have a written agreement with each director and senior executive 

setting out the terms of their appointment.  

 

All Directors and senior executives have contracts in place 

 

 

Recommendation 1.4 

The Company secretary should be accountable directly to the Board through the Chair, 

on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board.  

 

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board, through the Chair, on all matters to 

do with the proper functioning of the Board. 
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Recommendation 1.5 

The Company should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or 

summary of the policy. The policy should include requirements for the Board to establish 

measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board to assess 

annually  both the objectives and progress in achieving them.  

 

The Company recognises that a talented workforce is important in building a business. 

The Company‟s policy is to employ on the basis of competence  with no regard to gender, 

age nationality or race. The Company has not formulated measurable objective and 

gender diversity policy  but it is the Board‟s intention to formalise the policy at the time 

when the Company‟s size  and structure warrant a formal policy. 

 

Recommendation 1.6 

The Company should have and disclose a prcocess for periodically evaluating the 

performance of its Board, its committees and indivdual directors and whether a 

performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that 

process. 

 

In view of Company‟s current size and structure, the Board considers  that  no eficeincies 

or benefits would be gained by introducing a formal ealuation policy. The Board 

monitors the overall corporate governance of the  Company with the aim of ensuring that 

shareholders‟ interest is protected. The Board will consider establishment of formal 

Board and individual director‟s performance once the size and structure of the Company 

warrant. 

 

Recommendation 1.7 

The Company should have and disclose a prcocess for periodically evaluating the 

performance of senior executives and whether a performance evaluation was undertaken 

in the reporting period in accordance with that process.  

 

Due to the size of the company, the only senior executive, managing director is also the 

Chairman of the Board  and the major shareholder of the company, who responsibles for 

overall performance of the Company. This scenaria does not warrant a formal annual 

evalution on the senior executive. The Board will consider  a process for evaluating the 

performance of senior executives when  the size and structure of the Board warrant in the 

future. 

 

 

(Principle 2 –  Structure of  the Board to Add Value) 

 

Recommendation 2.1 

The Board should establish a nomination Committte of which the majority of the 

members should be independent directors (including the Chair). 
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The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board considers that the 

Company is not of a size or complexity to warrant the formation of a committee. 

 

Directors are appointed under the terms of the Company‟s  constitution. Appointments to 

the Board are based on merit and on criteria that the Board believes gives a blend of 

appropriate skills, expereience and expertise to the functioning of the Board. Retirement 

and rotation of directors are governed by the Corporation Act 2001 and the constitution 

of the company 

 

 

Recommendation 2.2 

The Company should have and disclose a Board Matrix settting out the mix of skills and 

diversity that the Board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 

 

The Board considers that its structure is appropriate in the context of the Company‟s 

activities and does not consider it necessary at this stage of its development to have a 

matrix setting out the mix of skills of the Directors. The expereience and skills of the 

Directors are documented in the Annual Report.  

 

Each director has the right of acess to all relevant company information and to the 

Company‟s  employees, subject to prior consultation with the Chairperson,  may seek 

independent professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser at the Company‟s 

expense. 

 

Recommendation 2.3 

The Company should disclose the names of the directors considered to be independent 

directors and the length of serie of each director 

 

Name  Position Independence Length of service 

Dehui Liu Executive 

Director 

Not independent- 

Mr Liu is a major 

shareholder, 

Managing Director 

and the Chair  

19 years   

(Since 7 Oct 1999) 

Zhen Lu Non-executive 

Director 

Independent 16 years  

( Since 19 Aug 2002) 

Sophia 

Xiaoqing Kong 

Executive 

Director 

Not independent – 

Ms Sophia is the 

Company  Secretary 

15 years  

(Since 8 July 2003) 

Shao Liu Non-Executive 

Director 

Independent  5 years  

(Since 18 Sept 2013) 

. 
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Recommendation 2.4 

 

A majority of the Board of Directors should be independent Directors 

 

In the current Board, two of the directors are independent and two of the directors are not 

independent. The Board believes that the individuals on the Board can and do make 

quality and independent judgements in the best interest of all stakeholders notwithstaning 

that that they are not independent directors in accordance with the criteria in the 

recommendation.  

 

Recommendation 2.5 

The Chair of the Board should be independent director and should not be  the CEO of the 

entity. 

 

The Chairman of the Company is not considered to be independent as he is a substantial 

shareholder and also the CEO of the company. Given the size, history and activities of 

ChongHerr, the directors believe that this arrangement is appropriate and also believes 

that the current Chairman can and does make quality and indepent judgements in the best 

interest of the Company and other stakeholders not withstanding that he is not an 

independent director in acordance with the criteria set out in the recommendation. 

 

Recommendation 2.6 

The company should have a program for inducting new directors and provide approriate 

professional development opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills 

and knowledge required to perform their roles as directors effectively 

 

The Company has procedures to provide new directors with any information they may 

The Company encourages and recommends that all directors attend relevant external 

seminars and education programs to assist them in the effect of exercise of their powers 

and duties. The Board agrees that any such education obtained by a director will be at the 

expense of the company. 

 

 

 (Principle 3 – Act Ethically and Responsibly) 

 

Recommendation 3.1 

The company should have a code of conduct for its directors, senior exeutives and 

employees. 

 

The Company is committed to operating ethically, honsestly, responsibly and legally  in 

all its business dealings. ChongHerr‟s general principles of conduct in all business affairs 

are: 

 Comply with the law, 

 Act honestly with integrity and objectivity, 

 Disclose conflicts of interest, 
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 Have a clear understanding of corporate and regulatory expectations, 

 Be responsible and accountable. 

 

 

(Principle 4 –Safegurd Integrity in Financial Reporting ) 

 

Recommendation 4.1 

The company should have an Audit Committe 

 

The does not have an Audit Committee. The Board considers that the company is 

currently not of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity, to justify the formation of 

special committees at this time. The Board as a whole is able to address the governance 

aspects of the Company‟s activities and to ensure it adheres to apprpriate ethical 

standards and  considers no efficiencies by establishing audit Committee. 

 

The Board  requires external auditors to demonstrate quality and independence and 

recommends for rotation of the audit engagement partner. 

 

 

 Recommendation 4.2 

The Board of the  company should, before it approves the Company’s financial statemtts, 

receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration, that in their opinion, the financial records 

of the Company have been properly maintained and that the financial statemetns comply 

with appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view if the financial 

position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis 

of a sound system of risk Management and internal control which is operating effectively. 

 

The Board receives the necessary declarations in writing from the CEO/CFO with respect 

to the financial records, financial statements and system of risk managemtn and internal 

control before it approves the Company Financial  statements for a fianancial period. 

Recommendation 4.3 

The Company should ensure that the Auditor is present at the Annual General Meeting 

and that thet be available to answer questions pertaining to the Audit from Security 

holders 

 

The Auditors has been available at Annual General Meeting to answer questions from the 

security holders 
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(Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure) 

 

Recommendation 5.1 

The Company should have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure 

requirements under the listing rules. 

 

The Company had established policies for complying with timely disclosure of material 

information concerning the company. This includes internal reporting procedures in place 

to ensure that any sensitive information or information which has material effect  on price 

and value of the its securities are reported to the Company Secretary in timely manner  

and the Company secretary is responsible for communications with Australian Securities 

Exhange ( ASX) .  

 

 

(Principle 6 – Respect the Right of Security Holders) 

 

Recommendation 6.1 

Companies should provide information about itself and its governance to investors via its 

website 

 

The Company is committed to maintaining a quality website that gives investors up-to-

date information about the Company and its operations. The Company ensures it posts 

the following inforamtion to the Company Website once its realease is confirmed to the 

ASX 

 

 Notice of Meeting 

 Annual reports including financial statements 

 Relevant Announcement posted to market via ASX  

Recommendation 6.2 

Companies should design and implement an investor relation program to cacilitate the 

two way communication with investors 

 

While there is no formal  relation program, the company encourages communications 

between shareholders and the Board  , Chairman/ CEO via emails and call. The Company 

will consider a formal relationship program as it grows in size,  to facilitate two way 

comminucation with investors.  

 

 

Recommendation 6.3 

Companies should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and 

encourage participation at meetings of security holders. 

 

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the Annual General Meeting to ensure 

accountability and identification with Company‟s strategies and goal. 
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Shareholders who are unable to attend the AGM  are encourage to vote by appointing a 

proxy using the form included with the Notice of meeting. Shareholders are encourage to 

ask questions of the Board as part of the formal meeting following voting on any 

resolutions that appeared in the Notice of Meeting. 

 

The Company ensures that both  Directors and the Audit partner are available to answer 

questions in Annual General Meeting. 

 

Recommendation 6.4 

Companies should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and 

send communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically. 

 

Shareholders have the option to receive communications from and send communications 

to the Company and its share registry, Link Market Services, electronically. 

 

 

(Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk) 

 

Recommendation 7.1 

The company should have a a committee or committee to oversee risk. 

 

The Board considers that the company is not currently of size, nor are its affairs of such 

complexity, to justify the formation of special commiittees ar this time. 

 

Risk management framework will be undertaken by the Board. 

 

Recommendation 7.2 

The Bard should review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to 

satisfy itself that it continues to be sound and siclose whether such a review has taken 

place. 

 

Due to the size and nature of the business,  no formal business  risk management review 

had been taken place in fianncial year 2015. Risk indenfication and assessment pertaining 

to helath and safety  had  been constantly reviewed and monitored by the management 

team during the year. The Board is recognising the importance of risk managemnt and 

would formalise the risk management framework  in the coming year.  

 

Recommendation 7.3 

The Board should disclose if it has an internal audit function 

 

The Company does not have an internal audit functoion  as it is believes that the current 

size and  its complexity of affairs does not warrant the set up of this special committee. 
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Internal control processes will be reviewed together with the risk management by the 

Board. 

 

 

 Recommendation 7.4 

The Board should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, 

environmental and social sustainability risks and if it does, how it proposes to manage 

those risks. 

 

The Company deals with quarrying of sandstone.  Environmental sustainablility are 

monitored in accordance  with  conditions set  in the environmental authority issued by 

the Department of Environment and Heritage Protection. 

 

 

 

 (Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly) 

 

Recommendation 8.1 

The company should have a Remuneration Committee 

 

The Company does not have a RemunerationCommittee. With the size and the current 

stage of development of the Company, it is believed that a remuneration committee 

would not add any efficiency to the process of determining the levels of remuneration for 

the directors and key execuitves. The Board considered that it is more appropriate for 

Board meeting to address the matters that would ordinarilly fall to a remuneration 

Commiittee. All matters of renumeration will continue be in accordance with 

Corporations Act requirements, especially in repect of related party transactions, i.e., 

none of the directors participate in any deliberations regarding their own remuneration or 

related issues. 

 

 

Recommendation 8.2A 

The company should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the 

remuneration of non-executive directors and the renumertion of executives, directors and 

the senior executives. 

 

Disclosure as to the nature and amount of remuneration paid to Directors of the Company 

is included in the Directoes report  and notes to the financial statements in the Company‟s 

annual report each year. 

 

Board and executives are remuerated fairly with reference to the relevant employment in 

the market and the financial performance of the Company.  

 


